IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

011 SID J. WHITE OCT 21 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By-Chiet//Deputy Clerk

CARL L. THOMAS,

Petitioner,

)

)

)

)))

vs .

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. - 78,055

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FL BAR # 0267082 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A _ Daytona Beach, FL 32114 Phone: 904/252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged in a one count information with carrying a concealed firearm in violation of Section 790.01, Florida Statutes (1987). (R 33) Counsel for Petitioner filed a motion to suppress the evidence seized contending that it was the result of an illegal and warrantless search. Petitioner also alleged that the basis for his arrest, a violation of a municipal ordinance requiring a bell or a gong on his bicycle, was illegal since the municipal ordinance was unconstitutional. (R 38-39) The trial court denied the motion. (R 20-21, 46) Petitioner entered a plea of nolo contendere to the offense as charged and specifically reserved **his** right to appeal this adverse ruling. (R 40-41)

Petitioner timely appealed his conviction to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, which in an <u>en banc</u> opinion affirmed his conviction and held that the municipal ordinance was constitutional. On a motion for rehearing the court certified

1

the following two questions to this Court as being of great public importance:

CAN A CITY ENFORCE A MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE REQUIRING THE EXISTENCE OF SAFETY EQUIPMENT ON A BICYCLE RIDDEN IN THE CITY LIMITS BY ARRESTING **A** PERSON WHO VIOLATES THE ORDINANCE?

DID THE REPEAL OF SECTION 165.19, FLORIDA STATUTES (1973) ELIMINATE A CITY'S PREVIOUSLY GRANTED POWER TO ENACT ORDINANCES WHICH PROHIBIT VARIOUS TYPES OF CONDUCT BY INDIVIDUALS WITHIN ITS JURISDICTION, AND WHICH PUNISHES VIOLATORS BY "CRIMINAL MEANS": ARREST; FINES; IMPRISONMENT?

<u>See</u>, <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 583 So,2d 336 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) and August 8, 1991). Petitioner timely filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary review.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At approximately 9:00 a.m. on June 16, 1989, Officer Kevin Bass of the Orlando Police Department was patrolling a predominantly black, high drug area. (R 3-4, 7, 8) During this routine patrol Officer Bass observed Petitioner riding a bicycle which was not equipped with a bell or a gong as required by a city ordinance. (R 4) Petitioner was immediately stopped, placed under arrest, handcuffed and searched. (R 5-6, 8) During this search, a handgun was found in Petitioner's pocket and removed. (R 5)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Honorable Court must answer the first certified question in the negative and rule that the City of Orlando may not enforce its municipal ordinance regarding safety equipment on bicycles by arresting the person. This court should so rule because the state has preempted the punishment of traffic infractions by declaring them to be civil in nature. Thus, no arrests should be allowed for a violation of a civil infraction.

This Court should further answer the second certified question in the affirmative and rule that the repeal of Section 165.19, Florida Statutes (1973) eliminated the authority of the City of Orlando to enact an ordinance which criminalizes certain types of conduct and punishes violators by criminal means.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

POINT I

CAN A CITY ENFORCE **A** MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE REQUIRING THE EXISTENCE OF SAFETY EQUIPMENT ON A BICYCLE RIDDEN IN THE CITY LIMITS BY ARRESTING **A** PERSON WHO VIOLATES THE ORDINANCE?

The answer to this question must be a resounding no. This is so because the State of Florida has preempted the punishment of traffic infractions by declaring them to be civil in nature. A review of the pertinent statutory provisions is necessary.

Section 775.08, Florida Statutes (1989) provides the class and definitions of criminal offenses. Specifically the statute provides:

(2) The term "misdemeanor" shall mean any criminal offense that is punishable under the laws of this state, or that would be punishable if committed in this state, by a term of imprisonment in the county correctional facility, except an extended term, not in excess of one year. The term "misdemeanor" shall <u>not</u> mean a conviction for any noncriminal traffic violation of any provision of Chapter 316 or any municipal or county ordinance.

(3) The term "noncriminal violation" shall mean any offense that is punishable under the laws of this state, or that would be punishable if committed in this state, by no other penalty than a fine, forfeiture, or other civil penalty. A noncriminal violation **does** not constitute a crime, and conviction for a noncriminal violation <u>shall not</u> give rise to any legal disability based on a criminal offense. The term "noncriminal violation" shall not mean any conviction for any violation of any municipal or county ordinance. Nothing contained in this code shall repeal or change the penalty for a violation of any municipal or county ordinance.

(4) The term "crime" shall mean a felony or misdemeanor.

Despite this clear intent of the legislature that violations of Chapter 316 and municipal ordinances are not to be considered criminal offenses, the City of Orlando has nevertheless enacted a provision which criminalizes the failure of a person to equip his bicycle with a bell or a gong. Orlando municipal ordinance Chapter 10, Section 10.08 provides:

> No person shall ride a bicycle on the streets of the city without having a bell or gong with which to warn pedestrians and drivers of vehicles at street crossings.

Orlando Municipal Ordinance, Chapter 10, Section 1.08 provides that for a violation of this municipal ordinance the penalty is punishment "by a fine not exceeding five hundred dollars and/or a definite term of imprisonment not exceeding 60 days." It is respectfully submitted that the City of Orlando may not enforce such an ordinance by arresting a person who violates such an ordinance.

Chapter 316, Florida Statutes establishes uniform traffic control laws. While Section **316.008**, Florida Statutes (**1989**) empowers **local** authorities such as the City of Orlando to exercise reasonable regulatory police power over traffic within its jurisdiction, Section 316.002, Florida Statutes (**1989**) declares it to be unlawful for any local authority to pass or

6

attempt to enforce any ordinance which is in conflict with the provisions of Chapter 316. Section 316.2065, Florida Statutes (1989) establishes bicycle regulations for the State of Florida. Section 316.271(4), Florida Statutes (1989) states: "No vehicle shall be equipped with, or shall any person use upon a vehicle, any siren, whistle or bell, accept as otherwise permitted in this Section." The statutory definition of vehicle in Section 316.003(75), Florida Statutes (1989) include bicycles. Section 316.2065(11), Florida Statutes (1989) provides that "a person propelling a bicycle upon and along a sidewalk. . . shall yield the right-of-way to any pedestrian and shall give an audible signal before overtaking and passing such pedestrian." Thus it can be seen that no part of Section 316.2065, Florida Statutes (1989) requires bells or gongs on bicycles, and in fact, Section 316.271, Florida Statutes (1989) prohibits them. The City of Orlando in enacting its ordinance is in direct conflict with the state statutory provisions and must be declared invalid.

The legislature has authorized municipalities to supplement the uniform traffic control laws but such authorization does not permit municipalities to declare criminal that which the legislature has specifically ruled to be noncriminal. Since the Orlando municipal ordinance requiring bells on bicycles directly conflicts with the state statute it must be ruled invalid. <u>See City of Daytona Beach v. Del Percio</u>, **476** So.2d **197** (Fla. **1985).** It **is** important to note in this regard that the Orange County Circuit Court sitting in its appellate

7

capacity ruled that the municipal ordinance is unconstitutional because it makes criminal an act that the state determined to be a civil infraction. <u>See Powers V. State</u>, 16 HLW C67 (Ninth Judicial Circuit, 1990). This Court must reach the same conclusion and in this regard adopt the dissenting opinion of Judge Harris. As stated at the outset, the answer to the first certified question must be no.

POINT II

DID THE REPEAL OF SECTION 165.19, FLORIDA STATUTES (1973) ELIMINATE A CITY'S PREVIOUSLY GRANTED POWER TO ENACT ORDINANCES WHICH PROHIBIT VARIOUS TYPES OF CONDUCT BY INDIVIDUALS WITHIN ITS JURISDICTION, AND WHICH PUNISHES VIOLATORS BY "CRIMINAL MEANS": ARREST; FINES; IMPRISONMENT?

The answer to this certified question must be yes. Prior to **1974** the legislature specifically authorized a municipality to enact "laws...for the preservation of the public peace and morals ... and to impose such ... penalties ... as may be needed to carry the same into effect. Provided, ...that for no one offense,...shall a fine of more than five hundred dollars be assessed, nor imprisonment for a **period** of time greater than sixty days." Section 165.19, Florida Statutes (1973). Therefore, municipalities had the express authorization to criminalize certain conduct and to punish such conduct with incarceration. However, on July 1, 1974, the legislature repealed Section 165.19, Florida Statutes (1973). Therefore this express statutory authorization permitting municipalities to criminalize certain conduct and to incarcerate violators for such conduct no longer existed. As Judge Harris pointed out in his dissent, Article 111, Section 11(a)(4), Florida Constitution provides that: "There shall be no special law, pertaining to:,,,(4) punishment for crime." Since the individual charter which was granted to municipalities was a special act they have no authority to enact criminal ordinances. As Judge Harris so cogently noted in his dissent, not only did the state repeal the

9

express authority to incarcerate violators of municipal ordinances it also decriminalized all such violations. <u>See</u>, Section 775.08, Florida Statutes (1974 Supp.) wherein the legislature defined crime as either a felony or a misdemeanor and specifically excluded violations of municipal ordinances as misdemeanors. To permit a municipality to arrest and incarcerate for a noncriminal violation violates the Thirteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution which prohibits imprisonment except as a punishment for a crime. Simply put, there is no authority by which a municipality may incarcerate an individual. This Court is urged to adopt the very eloquent and logical dissenting opinion by Judge Harris and answer the second certified question in the affirmative.

Even if this Court declines to answer these certified questions in the manner urged by Petitioner, this Court should nevertheless rule that a full custodial arrest for a violation of a municipal ordinance violates the proscription against unreasonable searches and seizures provided by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. In this regard, Petitioner once again draws this Court's attention to the dissenting opinion by Judge Harris wherein he concludes that arrest as it relates to a violation of municipal ordinance must be limited to detention for the purpose of issuing a ticket, a summons or a notice to appear. In the interest of brevity, Petitioner will not further argue this issue but will adopt the argument as presented by the amicus brief filed by the Florida

10

Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers with regard to the unreasonableness of a full custodial arrest for a violation of a municipal ordinance.

CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the foregoing reasons and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to answer the first certified question in the negative and the second certified question in the affirmative and rule that the City of Orlando was without authority to criminalize conduct specifically decriminalized by the state legislature. Petitioner's conviction must be vacated and the cause remanded with instructions to discharge him.