IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

DEC 2 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By. Chief Deputy Clerk

CARL LEROY THOMAS,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 78,055

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BELLE B. TURNER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 397024 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the petitioner's recitation of the case

and acts with the following additions:

The district court's decision relates the relevant facts as follows:

A law enforcement officer observed the defendant riding a bicycle on a street in the City of Orlando without having a bell or a gong as required by the municipal ordinance. The officer stopped the defendant and arrested him for of violation the municipal ordinance. Incidental to that arrest, the officer searched the defendant and found him to be carrying a concealed firearm on his The defendant was charged person. with carrying a concealed firearm in violation of section 790.01(2), Florida Statutes.

Thomas v. State, 583 So.2d 336, 337 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991).

Officer Bass testified that he had arrested several other persons for violation of this ordinance in addition to Mr. Thomas. (R 6)

At trial, petitioner filed a motion to suppress on various grounds, including that the ordinance was preempted by state statutes, that he could not be arrested for violation of a municipal ordinance, and that the ordinance was unconstitutional. (R 13-20, 38-39) The motion to suppress was denied. (R 20-21, 42, 46)

Thomas entered a plea of no contest to the charge of carrying a concealed firearm, reserving the right to appeal the

denial of his motion to suppress. (R 40) He was sentenced to two years' probation on December 1, 1989. (R 27, 49)

Notice of appeal was timely filed. (R 51) The public defender's office filed an initial brief on petitioner's behalf on or about March 28, 1990. The **brief** contended that the stop was pretextual, and that the defendant's right to be free from unreasonable seizures and searches was superior to the city's interest in insuring compliance with its bicycle equipment ordinances. The claim of a pretextual stop has been abandoned in this court, as has the selective enforcement claim.

In response, the state filed an answer brief on April 17, 1990. First, the state argued that even if the ordinance was unconstitutional, the evidence seized incident to the arrest for that ordinance was nevertheless admissible, and thus the motion to suppress was not dispositive. On the merits, the appellee contended that the home rule powers act gave the City of Orlando the power to enact legislation concerning any subject matter that was not "expressly preempted' by the state or county government. Section 316.008(1)(h), Florida Statutes (1989) expressly delegated to municipalities the right to regulate the operation Therefore, the Orlando of bicycles on streets and highways. ordinance was valid due to this express delegation of authority, Finally, there was no evidence presented to suggest that the stop was pretextual, and in fact the trial court expressly found that the stop was not pretextual.

Oral argument was set for September 10, 1990, by order dated July 17, 1990. On July 25, 1990, the district court sua sponte ordered the parties to **file** a supplemental brief within **ten** days, addressing the issue of:

> ...whether, in light of Section 775.08(2), Florida **Statutes**, a law enforcement officer has authority to make a custodial arrest for a violation of Chapter 10 of the Orlando City Code.

The supplemental brief of appellant argued that the officer did not have the authority to arrest for the municipal ordinance committed in his presence because "the code of criminal procedure provided that a notice to appear was the appropriate procedural process. Municipal ordinance violations are mere civil wrongs, he argued, and although arrests were authorized, they were unreasonable. The state argued in response that section 901.15, Florida Statutes (1989), provided direct authority for a custodial arrest on a municipal ordinance committed in his presence, and nothing in section 775.08 abrogated a municipality's right to penalize conduct and affix criminal penalties for its commission.

The District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, issued its en banc decision on March 28, 1991, affirming the convictions. Upon appellant's motion, the decision was amended to add two certified questions, as follows:

CAN A CITY ENFORCE A MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE REQUIRING THE EXISTENCE

OF SAFETY EQUIPMENT, ON A BICYCLE RIDDEN IN THE CITY LIMITS BY ARRESTING A PERSON WHO VIOLATES THE ORDINANCE?

DID THE REPEAL OF SECTION 165.19, FLORIDA STATUTES (1973) ELIMINATE A CITY'S PREVIOUSLY GRANTED POWER TO ENACT ORDINANCES WHICH PROHIBIT VARIOUS TYPES OF CONDUCT BY INDIVIDUALS WITHIN ITS JURISDICTION, AND WHICH PUNISHES "CRIMINAL VIOLATORS BY MEANS": ARREST; FINES; IMPRISONMENT?

This court permitted amici to join both parties; the Florida Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers filed an amicus curiae brief on petitioner's behalf while respondent anticipates that the City of Fort Lauderdale and the Florida League of Cities will file amicus curiae briefs supporting respondent's position,

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Nothing in chapter 316 expressly preempts the Orlando City Ordinance at issue. The mere existence of a state regulation on the subject does not preclude a municipality from adding additional requirements, so long as no express conflict exists. The legislature has expressly delegated to municipalities **the** authority to regulate the operation of bicycles. **§316.008(1)(h)**, Fla. Stat. (1989).

Section 901.15 specifically addresses under what circumstances a law enforcement officer can arrest for offenses committed within his presence, and specifically includes municipal ordinances. That an officer may issue a notice to appear does not mean that he must do so; moreover, even if a citation is issued, the person is still arrested and can be searched incident to that arrest. The first certified question should be answered in the affirmative.

The amendment to the state constitution in 1968 gave municipalities the power to make ordinances and affix criminal penalties for their violation. No further statutory authorization is necessary. The repeal of section 165.19 is merely a recognition of these broad home rule powers granted by the constitution, and it was not the legislature's intent to in any way restrict the power of municipalities, The second certified question should be answered in the negative.

POINT ONE

CAN A CITY ENFORCE A MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE REQUIRING THE EXISTENCE OF SAFETY EQUIPMENT ON A BICYCLE RIDDEN IN THE CITY LIMITS BY ARRESTING A PERSON WHO VIOLATES THE ORDINANCE?

Respondent contends that this question should be answered in the affirmative. There are two parts to this question; first, whether the city can legally require the existence of safety equipment on a bicycle or whether a state statute has preempted the municipality's right to regulate this area, and second, can this ordinance be enforced by arresting the person who violates the ordinance.

Orlando Municipal Ordinance, Chapter 10, Section 10.08, states:

No person shall ride a bicycle on the streets of the city without having a bell or gong with which to warn pedestrians and drivers of vehicles at street crossings.

The penalty for violation of this ordinance is punishment by a fine not exceeding \$500 and or sixty days in jail.

Thomas and his amicus contend that this ordinance is invalid because there are provisions in chapter 316 which preempt this ordinance. Section 316.271(4), Florida Statutes, (1989), states that no vehicle shall be equipped with any siren, whistle or bell. Section 316.2065 (11), Florida Statutes (1989), expressly applies to bicycles, and requires that "a person propelling a bicycle upon and along a sidewalk...shall give an audible signal before overtaking and passing such pedestrian." The state contends that the former subsection is general, while the latter is specifically directed to bicycles. It is a general rule of statutory construction that a specific statute controls over a more general statute. Moreover, as the court below observed, "section 316.2065, Florida Statutes, requires certain equipment (lights, reflectors, brakes) on bicycles but does not prohibit bells, gongs or other audible warning devices." <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 583 So.2d at 340.

The state contends that there is no express and direct conflict between chapter 316 and the ordinance. The district court correctly observed that "The mere existence of state regulations does not preclude a local authority from adding additional requirements as long as no conflict exists," Id.

Section 166.021(3)(c), Florida Statutes, (1989), "Municipal Home Rule Powers Act", provides that a municipality may enact legislation concerning any subject matter upon which the state legislature may act with the exception that a municipality may not enact legislation concerning any subject matter expressly reserved to state or county government by the constitution or by general law, which cannot be achieved by implication or inference. <u>Edwards v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 84 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). The state legislature has expressly delegated to municipalities the power to regulate the operation of bicycles on streets and highways under their jurisdiction.

Powers of local authorities.--

The provisions of this chapter shall not be deemed to prevent local authorities, with respect to streets and highways under their within jurisdiction and the reasonable exercise of police power, from: (h) Regulating the operation of bicycles. §316.008(1)(h), Fla. Stat. (1989).

Pursuant to this express delegation of the authority to regulate the operation of bicycles to municipalities, the Orlando City Council enacted Section 10.08, Orlando City Code. This constitutes a valid exercise of municipal power. Art. VIII, §2(b), Fla. Const.

Whether or not this ordinance is a poor public policy is a complaint which should be addressed to the Orlando City Council. It is a fundamental tenet of the doctrine of the separation of powers that courts will not substitute their judgment as to the reasonableness of a regulation whose reasonableness is fairly debatable. Courts should intervene only where there is an obvious abuse of police power and where the ordinance clearly does not have a foundation in reason or necessity. <u>See Dennis v.</u> City of Key West, 381 So.2d 312 (Fla. **3d DCA** 1980).

Courts should be very cautions in declaring a municipal ordinance unreasonable as there is **a** peculiar propriety in permitting inhabitants of **a** city, through its officials, to determine what rules are necessary for their local community. <u>State v. Sawyer</u>, 346 So.2d 197 (Fla. **3d DCA** 1977). This court has held that the "clear purpose" of Article VIII, Section 2(b) of the Florida Constitution is to give the municipalities inherent power to meet their municipal needs. <u>Lake Worth</u> <u>Utilities v. City of Lake Worth</u>, **468 So.2d 215 (Fla. 1985).**

The power of a city ta enforce its municipal ordinances by arresting violators cannot seriously be questioned. Section 901.15(1), Florida Statutes, (1989) expressly provides:

> A law enforcement officer may arrest a person without a warrant when: (1) the person has...violated a municipal ordinance in the presence of the officer.

As the district court **held** below, this statute is clear and unambiguous, and demonstrates a clear legislative intent to specifically authorize a law enforcement officer to arrest a person who violates a municipal ordinance in his or her presence. <u>See, City of Tampa v. Thatcher Glass Corp.</u> **445** So.2d 578 (Fla. 1984); Carson v. Miller, **370** So.2d 10 (Fla. **1979).**

While section 775 defines crimes for purposes of **punishment**, section 901.15 specifically addresses under what circumstances a law enforcement officer may make a warrantless arrest. A municipal ordinance may not be a "crime" for purposes of punishment [See, <u>Pridgen v. City of Auburndale</u>, 430 So.2d 967 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983)], but nonetheless be a crime for purposes of arrest.

It is well established that a law enforcement officer may arrest a persan without a warrant. <u>Gerstein v. Pugh</u>, 420 U.S. **103** (1975). It is also well established that the common law rule

- 9 -

prohibits warrantless arrests for misdemeanors committed outside of the officer's presence, <u>Welsh v. Wisconsin</u>, 466 U.S. 740 (1984). However, a state may lawfully enact a statute permitting warrantless arrests for misdemeanors or municipal ordinance violations committed within the officer's presence without offending the fourth amendment. Id. Florida has expressly provided for such warrantless arrests in section 901.15. Therefore, there is no fourth amendment violation when a person such as petitioner is arrested without a warrant for the commission of a municipal ordinance in the officer's presence.

Once a valid arrest is accomplished, it is well established that an officer may **search** the defendant incident to the arrest. <u>See, New York v. Belton</u>, 453 U.S. 454 (1981). In Florida, an officer may conduct a search incident to an arrest even if he does not effect a custodial arrest, but merely issues a notice to appear. <u>State v. Boulia</u>, 522 So.2d 528 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

There are several **cases** which hold that a custodial arrest for violation of a municipal ordinance is a valid arrest, so long **as** the violation occurred in the officer's presence. In <u>Canney</u> <u>v. State</u>, 298 So.2d 495 (Fla. 2d **DCA**), <u>cert. denied</u>, **423** U.S. 892 (1973), the defendant was arrested for violation of a St. Petersburg ordinance forbidding obscene language. The court held that the officer "certainly" had the authority to arrest Canney for violation of the ordinance after personally hearing the offending language. <u>See also, Nixon v. State</u>, 178 So.2d 629 (Fla. **3d DCA**), <u>cert. denied</u>, **385** U.S. 853 (1965). In <u>Snow v.</u> <u>State</u>, 179 So.2d 99 (Fla. 2d **DCA** 1965), the defendant was arrested for a Coral Gables ordinance prohibiting vagrancy, and the conviction was affirmed. <u>See also, City of Miami v. Clarke</u>, 222 So.2d 214 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969).

Several cases hold that municipalities may punish ordinance violators by imprisonment, or fine, or both, so long as the penalty does not exceed \$500 and sixty days in jail. <u>Edwards v.</u> <u>State</u>, 422 So.2d 84 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); <u>Pridgen v. City of</u> <u>Auburndale</u>, 430 So.2d 967 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). A municipal ordinance may adopt all criminal misdemeanor laws and impose additional penalties which do not exceed the state statute. Jaramillo v. City of Homestead, 322 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1975).

Thomas argues further that an officer may not effect a custodial arrest without running afoul of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.125(b). This rule permits an officer to issue a notice to appear unless one of six circumstances exist, i.e., failure to identify; no ties to the community, etc. That rule is permissive, not mandatory. This rule does not mean that the officer must issue a notice to appear if none of these circumstances exist. Moreover, these are some rules of criminal procedure which do not apply to municipal ordinance violations, for instance, speedy trial. <u>State ex rel. Stevens v. Kaplan</u>, 297 So.2d 868 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974).

Most significantly, even if the officer issues a notice to appear, the person is still under arrest, and the officer may still search the defendant incident to that arrest. **State** v. Boulia, 522 So.2d 528 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). "It is well settled that the fact that an accused is not taken into actual custody at the time of an arrest does not diminish one whit the legal effect of the arrest at that time. <u>See Giblin v. City of Coral Gables</u>, 149 So.2d 561 (Fla. 1963)," <u>State v. Parnell</u>, 221 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1969).

As there is no direct conflict with any provision in chapter 316, the Orlando City Ordinance at issue is a valid exercise of municipal power. Section 901.15(1), Florida Statutes (1989), explicitly gives municipalities the power to arrest without a warrant persons who violate municipal ordinances in the officer's presence. The search of Thomas incident to that lawful arrest which revealed that he **was** carrying a concealed firearm was also lawful. Even if he had only been issued a notice to appear despite the clear authority to arrest pursuant to section 901.15, the search would still be valid. The first certified question should be answered in the affirmative.

POINT TWO

DID THE REPEAL OF SECTION 165.19, FLORIDA STATUTES (1973) ELIMINATE A CITY'S PREVIOUSLY GRANTED POWER TO ENACT ORDINANCES WHICH PROHIBIT VARIOUS TYPES OF CONDUCT BY TNDTVTDUALS WTTHIN TTS JURISDICTION, AND WHICH PUNISHES VIOLATORS BY "CRIMINAL MEANS" : ARREST; FINES; IMPRISONMENT?

In 1968, the Florida Constitution was amended to change the relationship between the state and its municipalities. Prior to the revision, municipalities were "creatures of legislative grace." Lake Worth Utilities v. City of Lake Worth, 468 So.2d 215, 217 (Fla. 1985). The 1885 Constitution gave the legislature the authority to establish municipalities and provide for their jurisdiction and powers. This court held in Lake Worth that the "clear purpose of the 1968 revision embodied in Article VIII, Section 2 was to give the municipalities inherent power to meet municipal needs," Id. The Florida Constitution now provides:

Municipalities shall have governmental, corporate and proprietary powers to enable them to conduct municipal government, perform municipal functions and render municipal services, and may exercise any power for municipal purposes except as otherwise provided by law.

Article VIII, Section 2 (B), Constitution of Florida. See also, Chapter 166, Florida Statutes.

Generally, the only constitutional limitation on municipal power is that it must be exercised for a municipal purpose. State v. City of Sunrise, 354 So.2d 1206 (Fla. 1978). Therefore, as the caurt below observed, municipalities are not dependent upon the legislature for further authorization. What power is granted by the constitution cannot be altered by statute. The second certified question must be answered in the negative.

The repeal of section 165.19 in 1973 was a recognition by the legislature that the constitution had granted municipalites Although not cross-referencing this broad home rule powers. specific subsection, the legislature made its intent clear in section 166.042(1), by stating that by repealing the statutes which formerly governed municipalities, they did not intend to restrict or limit the power of municipalities, but rather were recognizing the constitutional power of home rule that municipalities presently endowed with were under the constitution. The history and legislative intent is fully addressed by amicus curiae Florida League of Cities, and respondent adopts that argument herein.

This court has held that municipalities have the power to enact criminal or penal statutes pursuant to its broad home rule power. <u>Jaramillo v.</u> City of <u>Homestead</u>, 322 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1975); <u>See also</u>, 1978 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 078-111, (August 28, 1978). There are no statutory or constitutional limitations upon the severity of a penalty imposed for violation of a municipal ordinance, and any limitation on the power or severity of a penalty is in the sole discretion of the legislative body of the municipality. 1981 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 081-76, (October 13, 1981); See also, 1989 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 089-24, (April 21, 1989).(No constitutional or statutory limitation on a municipality's power to impose penalties for violation of its municipal ordinances.)

In section 775.08(3), Florida Statutes, (1989), the legislature expressly excluded municipal ordinances from the definition of "noncriminal violations":

The term "noncriminal" violation shall not mean any conviction for any violation of...any municipal ordinance. Nothing contained in this code shall repeal or change the penalty for violation of any municipal ordinance.

Not only is there no statutory limitation an a municipality's power to punish violators of its ordinances by imprisonment or fines, this provision expressly provides for such punishment. See also, §162.21(8), Fla. Stat. (1989).

In the amicus curiae brief of the Florida Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers, an additional argument is improperly raised for the first time. At page 13 of this brief, FACDL argues that equal protection is violated by permitting an arrest for this ordinance because section 316 "decriminalizes" traffic offenses. This argument is improper for several reasons. First, as he candidly acknowledges, it has never been raised before. As he argues that the ordinance is unconstitutional **as** applied, the issue is waived for failure to present it below. Trushin v. State: 425 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1982). Second, amici are not permitted to inject new issues into the litigation or raise new issues which were not raised below. <u>Keating v. State</u>, 157 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963); <u>Acton v. City of Fort Lauderdale</u>, **418** So.2d 1099 (Fla. 1st DCA **1982)**; <u>approved</u>, **440 So.2d** 1282 (Fla. **1983)**. Third, Thomas has failed to sustain his burden of demonstrating that this ordinance violates equal protection. <u>See, King v. State</u>, **557 So.2d 899** (Fla. **5th DCA** 1990), <u>rev.</u> <u>denied</u>, 564 So.2d 1086 (Fla. 1991). There is no evidence to support this contention.

Finally, Thomas claims that a "full custodial arrest" for violation of a municipal ordinance is unreasonable. The state constitutional counterpart of the fourth amendment must be interpreted in harmony with United States Supreme Court decisions interpreting the fourth amendment. In Gustafson v. Florida, 414 U.S. 260 (1973), the Court held that there was no fourth amendment violation in conducting a full search of the person incident to his arrest on a traffic offense violation of driving without possessing a driver's license, even though the officer had the discretion to issue a notice to appear. If there is probable cause to arrest, even if the arrest is for а misdemeanor, traffic offense or ordinance violation, the officer has the authority to conduct a custodial arrest. See also, Welsh v. Wisconsin, supra. Thomas has failed to sustain his burden of establishing this or any other claim.

The second certified question should be anwered in the negative. The constitution, and not statutory enactments, is the source of a municipality's power to punish ordinance violators with fines or imprisonment.

- 16 -

CONCLUSION

Based upon the argument and authority presented, respondent respectfully requests this honorable court to affirm the judgment and sentence in all respects. Respondent requests this court to answer the first certified question in the affirmative and the second question in the negative.